
From: 

Sent on: Friday, October 20, 2023 3:37:50 AM 

To: 

Subject: FW: Draft Flavour Wheel - some feedback 

Coolants was excluded as it’s not a flavour, so I haven’t included a bunch of other emails on 
coolants. 

From: 
Sent: Tuesday, 27 June 2023 11:00 am 
To: Matt Burgess ; 

 Sally Stewart Emma 
Hindson 
Cc: Stephanie Parlane 

Subject: RE: Draft Flavour Wheel - some feedback 

That means I’m not sure how we deal with it. I think it’s a difficult thing we need to make a decision 
about. It may not fit well in the wheel, but I don’t think we can ignore it. Manufacturers will want or 
likely find someway to refer to it. It might be better to have it as one of the two flavour descriptors. 

From: Matt Burgess 
Sent: Tuesday, 27 June 2023 10:58 am 
To: 

 Sally Stewart Emma 
Hindson 
Cc: Stephanie Parlane 

Subject: RE: Draft Flavour Wheel - some feedback 

Hi  

Does that mean you support it not being included? 

Thanks, 

Matt 

From: 
Sent: Tuesday, 27 June 2023 9:06 am 
To: Matt Burgess 

 Sally Stewart  Emma 
Hindson 
Cc: Stephanie Parlane

Subject: RE: Draft Flavour Wheel - some feedback 
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Just adding to the discussion on ice – this is not usually a mint/menthol flavour – just a cooling 
effect. It is extremely popular with youth. It acts in a similar way to menthol tobacco to mask 
somewhat the harshness of the nicotine. It might not be considered a flavour, but more of an effect. 
  
From: Matt Burgess  
Sent: Tuesday, 27 June 2023 8:14 am 
To:  Sally Stewart 

 Emma Hindson  
 

Cc: Stephanie Parlane  
 

Subject: RE: Draft Flavour Wheel - some feedback 
  
Thanks . 
  

1. We specifically took out drinks other than coffee and tea, but if you think cola is needed 
then we could add it back in by changing the category to Drinks – my concern with that is 
that we could get a lot of requests to add in other drinks as well. We wouldn’t necessarily 
add them in but we’d need to respond to a lot more requests. I’ve added passionfruit, oat 
(renaming Nuts to Nuts & Grains) and sweet. 

2. We excluded ice as it isn’t a flavour. If they have to ensure the name accurately describes 
the flavour then we shouldn’t allow things that don’t have a flavour. They can presumably 
use a mint flavour instead of ice. 

3. Yes – definitely. I think we’ve decided that they can choose one flavour name or a 
combination of two flavour names for each variant. 

4. I think we should allow people to request additional flavours but not additional categories – 
so if the flavour they want doesn’t fit within the listed categories then we won’t consider it. 

  
I’ve attached a link to the updated version of the flavour wheel in case anyone has any further 
feedback. 
  
Cheers, 
  
Matt 
  
From:  
Sent: Monday, 26 June 2023 9:00 pm 
To: Matt Burgess  Sally Stewart 

 Emma Hindson  
 

Cc: Stephanie Parlane  
 

Subject: RE: Draft Flavour Wheel - some feedback 
  
Hi Matt, 
  
I have taken a look at the flavour wheel document.  I think it looks pretty good really, but I have a 
couple of questions/comments: 
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1. I have done a quite unscientific survey of websites…. I think that the wheel has most things 
that we would want. A couple of things to consider adding – Cola, passionfruit, some sort of 
cereal/granola/oat flavour name, generic ‘sweet.’ 
  

2. Also ‘Ice’ –We haven’t got it as a descriptor, and it is a very popular descriptor.  However, I 
understand that ‘ice’ can be added in a way that is essentially flavourless. I wasn’t sure if this 
was purposeful? 
  

3. I think that the flavour wheel document would need to specify how people use it. For 
example, the fact that there can only be a maximum of two chosen (if this is what we are 
saying) 

  
4. Are we having a process / some way that people can request a flavour be added to the 

wheel?  We haven’t really talked about this… it just says that the Ministry will publish. 
  

Regards, 
 

  
  
From: Matt Burgess  
Sent: Tuesday, 20 June 2023 11:12 am 
To: Sally Stewart  Emma Hindson  

 
 

Cc: Stephanie Parlane  
 

Subject: RE: Draft Flavour Wheel 
  
Hi, 
  
We did some more work on the flavour wheel and would appreciate any thoughts/feedback on this 

version:  SERPR Flavour Wheel.xlsm 
  
Thanks, 
  
Matt 
  
From: Matt Burgess 
Sent: Thursday, 18 May 2023 6:31 pm 
To: Stephanie Parlane  

 
Subject: RE: Draft Flavour Wheel 
  
Here’s the updated flavour wheel now the macros are working again. 
  
From: Matt Burgess 
Sent: Wednesday, 17 May 2023 11:08 am 
To: Stephanie Parlane  

 
Subject: Draft Flavour Wheel 
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From:  

Sent on: Friday, October 20, 2023 3:36:40 AM 

To:  

Subject: FW: Flavour wheel 

Attachments: Thesis_Krusemann_complete.pdf (3.48 MB) 

Thesis_Krusemann_c

omplete.pdf

From: hc-sc.gc.ca> 
Sent: Saturday, 22 October 2022 1:11 am 
To: Sally Stewart  
Cc:  
Subject: Flavour wheel 

See chapter 2, attached, thesis for the flavour wheel I was referring to. 

Warm regards, 
 

De : Sally Stewart  
Envoyé : 2022-10-17 16:34 
À : Choiniere, Denis (HC/SC) hc-sc.gc.ca> 
Cc :  
Objet : vaping product packaging 

Dear , I hope all is well with you. 

With our legislation progressing through Parliament, we are turning our minds to regulations. In 
addition to the regulations needed to implement the smoked tobacco Bill, we considering options to 
tighten up the regulation of vaping products as youth uptake continues to rise, causing a fair amount 
of concern in some quarters. Subject to the Bill passing in December, we will be publicly consulting 
on regulatory proposals in February. 

We would be keen on meeting to hear about your experience with your regulatory requirements – 
primary in relation to packaging, including product or flavour names. I’m not sure that we are 
entirely up to date with the work you have done in this area, but we would be interested in hearing 
what you have in place or are considering, as well as whether compliance and enforcement has been 
a challenge. 

And we’d be happy for a general catchup – it’s been a while. 

Regards 
Sally 
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Sally Stewart (she/her) 
Team Manager 
Policy and Regulation 

 
 

Public Health Agency | Te Pou Hauora Tūmatanui 

Ministry of Health | Manatū Hauora 

133 Molesworth Street Thorndon, Wellington 6011 

 

 

    

  
  

***************************************************************************

* 

Statement of confidentiality: This e-mail message and any accompanying 

attachments may contain information that is IN-CONFIDENCE and subject to 

legal privilege. 

If you are not the intended recipient, do not read, use, disseminate, 

distribute or copy this message or attachments. 

If you have received this message in error, please notify the sender 

immediately and delete this message. 

***************************************************************************

* 

 
This e-mail message has been scanned for Viruses and Content and cleared by the Ministry of 

Health's Content and Virus Filtering Gateway 
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From:  
Sent: Thursday, 24 August 2023 3:31 pm 
To:  
Cc: Stephanie Parlane  Gill Hall  
Subject: Ice memo/unintended consequence and managing queries 

Kia ora  

Sorry to dump you with this but I haven’t had time the last few days to get around to doing anything 

about this. We just need to update the memo to include a little bit about how the industry might 

react, what they are now required to do, and what the impact of this might be.  has seen the 

memo and asked for more to be added about this. 
I note we have already received a query about this to the vaping inbox –  just mentioned. 

I’m not familiar with the toxicological assessment, or what that means logistically, so can’t really write 

up anything about it. 
The risk I see is that we are in effect applying a new trade barrier to industry which is an unintended 

outcome of the regulations to restrict flavour names. We need to be able to explain what the industry 

needs to do and why. And probably justify why this is now a requirement when it wasn’t something 

outlined in the consultation etc. 

We need to be able to manage and respond to queries and challenges that will come from industry 

on this issue.  might be able to give you a steer if you don’t know where to start. 
Can I leave that with you to work on? Run it by  and then  when you’re done, and then 

update the memo a little to say what we’ve done. 

Just noting it has gone on the webpage today so we will probably want to prepare something soon. 

I’m around for the arvo so let me know if you have any questions. 

Link –  Memo to GM on Policy decision taken to exclude synthetic cooling agents from approved 
flavours for vaping products from SERPR 2023.docx 

Audit trail –  Audit Trail - Memo to GM on Flavour Wheel.docx 

 will then want to see the memo again before she signs it. You could also share the 

wording that is prepared for media queries. 

Ngā mihi 

  
Senior Advisor l Kaitohutohu Matua 

Public Health Policy & Regulation 
 

Te Pou Hauora Tūmatanui l Public Health Agency 
Manatū Hauora, 133 Molesworth Street 
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From:  
Sent: Monday, 27 February 2023 9:59 am 
To: Emma Hindson >; Matt Burgess 

 
Subject: RE: Vaping submission 

Môrena, here’s the other vape flavour article from the March 2023 issue. Just shows how complex 
the evidence is around flavours, which we may need to reference in the RIS. 

Associations Between E-cigarette Use and E-cigarette Flavors With Cigarette Smoking Quit Attempts 
and Quit Success: Evidence From a U.S. Large, Nationally Representative 2018–2019 Survey | 
Nicotine & Tobacco Research | Oxford Academic (oup.com) 

This one suggests: 
- smokers that vape are more likely to make quit attempts/successfully quit
- users of flavoured vapes are more successful than unflavoured or tobacco flavoured vapes
- those who use mint or menthol are as successful as those who use other flavours (fruit/sweet) –
though they reference the other studies that have suggested these fruit/sweet flavours are more
associated with success
- based on their findings they suggest removing flavours aside from mint and menthol would not
harm smoking cessation but would remove youth appeal (possibly in conflict with the article I sent
Friday about youth liking the cooling properties that menthol presents)
- they reference multiple surveys that suggest if flavours were restricted, a sizeable group of vapers
would return to smoking
- limitations of the study include that they didn’t really look at how type of vape device interacted
with flavours and smoking cessation, and this is US based with a strong history of African American
use of menthol flavour, which might make the findings less applicable to us.

And here’s a highly relevant but small study looking at how youth perceive vape packaging. 

Vaping Flavors and Flavor Representation: A Test of Youth Risk Perceptions, Novelty Perceptions, 
and Susceptibility | Nicotine & Tobacco Research | Oxford Academic (oup.com) 

This found: 

- middle schoolers (11-14) who view the fruit-flavoured vaping product with flavour colour and
flavour image were more likely to consider it fun and interesting and were seen as more susceptible
to trying vaping (compared to tobacco flavour colour and image or no colour and image)
- restricting flavour representation on packaging might reduce how fun and interesting youth
perceive these products to be and how susceptible they are to using them
- limitations are that it was only 176 children
- they suggested additional research with adult smokers is needed to check how these changes
would impact their behaviour. “Future research should also continue to investigate other
approaches not tested in this study, such as restricting the descriptors of flavours and selling these
and other products in adult-only brick-and-mortar shops.”

Ngâ mihi, 
 

From:  
Sent: Friday, 24 February 2023 2:25 pm 

Document 6

S9(2)(g)(ii)

S9(2)(g)(ii)
S9(2)(g)(ii)

S9(2)(g)

S9(2)(g)(ii)

RELE
ASED U

NDER THE O
FFIC

IAL I
NFORMATIO

N ACT 19
82



To: Emma Hindson ; Matt Burgess 
 

Subject: RE: Vaping submission 
  
Hi again 
  
More for us to discuss. 
  
This is a really difficult article to get my head around, but feels like it could be very relevant to our 
vaping flavours work. Perceived Sensory Characteristics of Blended and Ambiguous “Concept” 
Flavors Among Adolescent and Young Adult E-cigarette Users | Nicotine & Tobacco Research | 
Oxford Academic (oup.com) 
  
If I’m interpreting it correctly, it’s saying: 

• A cooling sensation is at least as important as whether a flavour profile is sweet or fruity (I’m 
not sure if we have or can factor this into the flavour wheel) 

• Industry suggests removing ‘descriptive’ flavour names like ice mango, and moving to 
‘concept’ flavour names like marigold will remove youth appeal (basically the opposite of 
what we’re proposing) 

• The authors are not convinced this is true, as they say youth are able to find concept 
flavours that match their preferred descriptive flavours (but raises the question of whether 
changing it either way would have any effect on youth usage) 

• Youth already seem to mostly use descriptive flavours – though they acknowledge this could 
be an association with the type of devices they use (ie young people mostly use disposables, 
disposables may mostly have descriptive names etc). 

• They suggest the US menthol cigarette ban should be extended to ban cooling agents in 
vapes, as that effectively masks the harshness of high levels of nicotine (worth discussing). 

  
There are other vape flavour articles in this March 2023 journal that I haven’t got to yet, including 
impact on quit smoking success, so I may share more relevant stuff next week. 
  
Ngâ mihi, 

 
  
From:  
Sent: Friday, 24 February 2023 12:20 pm 
To: Emma Hindson ; Matt Burgess 

 
Subject: Vaping submission 
  

 Whitehall-smokefree-environments-regulations-submission-form feb 2023.pdf 
  
Kia ora kôrua 
  
This is an interesting submission on behalf of what I assume is a vape retailer/organisation. Their 
answers to questions across the document demonstrate a thorough understanding of our proposals. 
If you skip to page 14, you can see the responses on youth vaping. I think there’s some useful 
challenges and suggestions to consider when preparing the RIS. 
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Might be best if we work through the answers together and test the validity. I suspect we can 
dismiss some of the recs as unworkable, but other challenges may be suitable to list as cons in the 
RIS. Matt I think we’ll really need your expertise re batteries etc. 
  
I’ll set up a meeting for Wednesday. Best if you spend 10-15 mins beforehand reading through those 
6 pages. 
  
Ngâ mihi, 

 
  

 
Please note, my standard days of work are Mon(9-2.30), 
Wed (8.30-5.30), Thurs (7.30-3.30) and Fri (9-2.30) 
Senior Advisor 

 
Public Health Agency | Te Pou Hauora Tūmatanui 
Manatū Hauora, 133 Molesworth Street 
Thorndon, Wellington 6011 
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L E G A L L Y  P R I V I L E G E D  :  I N  C O N F I D E N C E 
SWC-22-MIN-0257 

1 
74pljbyi4i 2023-08-02 13:35:19 L E G A L L Y  P R I V I L E G E D  :  I N  C O N F I D E N C E 

 

 

Cabinet Social Wellbeing 
Committee 
Minute of Decision 

 

This document contains information for the New Zealand Cabinet. It must be treated in confidence and 
handled in accordance with any security classification, or other endorsement. The information can only be 
released, including under the Official Information Act 1982, by persons with the appropriate authority. 

 
 
Smokefree Environments and Regulated Products Act 1990: Release of 
Consultation Document on Proposals for Smoked Tobacco Regulatory 
Regime 

 
Portfolio Associate Health (Hon Dr Ayehsa Verrall) 

 
 
On 14 December 2022, the Cabinet Social Wellbeing Committee (SWC): 

 
1 noted that the Smokefree Environments and Regulated Products (Smoked Tobacco) 

Amendment Bill (the Amendment Bill) provides for a regulatory regime to oversee and 
monitor the import, manufacture, sale, and supply of smoked tobacco products in New 
Zealand; 

 
2 noted that the Smoked Tobacco Regulatory Regime must be established six months after the 

Amendment Bill comes into force on 1 January 2023; 
 
3 noted that Manatū Hauora intends to publicly consult on regulatory proposals needed to 

establish the Smoked Tobacco Regulatory Regime; 
 
4 noted that the consultation document Proposals for the Smoked Tobacco Products 

Regulatory Regime (the consultation document), attached to the submission under 
SWC-22-SUB-0257, seeks feedback on the proposed requirements for the Smoked Tobacco 
Regulatory Regime, including: 

 
4.1 the smoked tobacco products retail application scheme; 

 
4.2 low nicotine standards and product approval processes; 

 
4.3 new notification requirements; 

 
4.4 fees; 

 
5 agreed to include the following vaping proposals in the consultation document: 

 
5.1 restricting flavour names that are likely to particularly appeal to young people (e.g. 

Honey Bear and Unicorn Milk), with the objective of minimising their appeal to 
young people and reducing the associated uptake rates; 

 
5.2 tightening product safety requirements for disposable vapes to ensure that they are 

safe to use; 
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I N  C O N F I D E N C E 

I N  C O N F I D E N C E 
1 

74pljbyi4i 2023-08-02 13:35:19 

 

 

 
 
 

Office of the Associate Minister of Health 

Chair, Social Wellbeing Committee 

 

Smokefree Environments and Regulated Products Act 1990: Public 
consultation on regulatory proposals for the Smoked Tobacco 
Regulatory Regime 
Proposal 
1 This paper seeks Cabinet approval to publicly consult on regulatory proposals 

required to establish the Smoked Tobacco Regulatory Regime, following the 
enactment of the Smokefree Environments and Regulated Products (Smoked 
Tobacco) Amendment Bill (the Smokefree Bill). 

 
Relation to Government priorities 
2 These proposals strengthen the regulation of both smoked tobacco and 

vaping products. This contributes to the Smokefree Aotearoa 2025 goal and 
other Government priorities: namely empowering Māori to achieve better 
health outcomes, improving equity for Māori and Pacific peoples, reducing 
New Zealanders’ risk of developing some cancers, and improving child and 
youth wellbeing. 

 
Executive Summary 
3 The Smokefree Environments and Regulated Products (Smoked Tobacco) 

Amendment Bill, (the Smokefree Bill) has passed its third reading and will 
come into force on 1 January 2023. 

4 The new provisions of the Smokefree Bill regulate entry into the smoked 
tobacco and vaping product markets, provide for the approval of smoked 
tobacco products, regulate the constituents of smoked tobacco products, and 
create a ‘smokefree generation’. There are a range of other new provisions in 
the Smokefree Bill to strengthen the existing framework and to strengthen 
system monitoring. 

5 A regulatory regime must be established to oversee and monitor the import, 
manufacture, sale, and supply of smoked tobacco products six months after 
the Smokefree Bill comes into force. The attached consultation document sets 
out the requirements for the regime and includes an additional proposal to 
tighten vaping requirements to reduce the appeal of vaping products to young 
people and associated uptake rates. The proposals will be publicly consulted 
on, following the Smokefree Bill coming into force. 

6 I will report back to Cabinet in April 2023, following consultation, with the final 
proposals and seek Cabinet approval to issue instructions to the 
Parliamentary Counsel Office to draft regulations. 
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Background 
7 The Smokefree Bill amends the Smokefree Environments and Regulated 

Products Act 1990 (the Smokefree Act) and the Customs and Excise Act 
2018, with the objectives of: 
7.1 significantly reducing retail availability of smoked tobacco products 
7.2 preventing young people, and successive generations, from ever 

taking up smoking (the Smokefree Generation Policy), and 
7.3 reducing the appeal and addictiveness of smoked tobacco products. 

8 The Smokefree Bill also contains new requirements that notifiable product 
retailers must register with (and pay an associated fee to) Manatū Hauora (the 
Ministry of Health). The details on how to register will be set in regulations. 
This will provide a better picture of who and where products are being sold to 
assist monitoring and compliance efforts. 

9 A regulatory regime must be established to oversee and monitor the import, 
manufacture, sale, and supply of smoked tobacco products six months 
following the Smokefree Bill coming into force. 

Getting the balance right: addressing youth vaping 

10 Vaping has an important role to play in the successful implementation of the 
Smokefree Bill. We need to ensure that people who decide to stop smoking, 
as a result of the substantial changes the Smokefree Bill makes, have ready 
access to less harmful nicotine products. 

11 However, vaping is not harmless, and we do not wish to see tamariki and 
rangatahi become addicted to these products. While the Smokefree Act 
already prohibits the sale and supply of vaping products to those under 18 
years of age, the legacy of our previously unregulated market means that 
vaping rates for our young people continue to rise1. 

12 I also acknowledge that the public health sector’s ability to enforce these new 
provisions was compromised by its role in the COVID-19 pandemic response. 
I have asked Manatū Hauora and the National Public Health Service to 
prioritise compliance and enforcement activities. This will give greater 
confidence that vape retailers understand, and are complying with, their legal 
obligations. I expect that officials will continue to monitor, commission, and 
gather evidence to get a clearer sense of what the market is doing. 

 
13 That said, I believe there is also an opportunity now to ensure that our vaping 

regulatory regime has the right balance. I therefore propose consulting on a 
proposal to extend vaping packaging and product restrictions to further reduce 
the appeal of vaping products to young people and associated uptake rates, 
as part of the public consultation process. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1 New Zealand Health Survey data showed that daily use of vapes by 15 to 17 year olds increased from 1.7 
percent in 2018-19 to 5.8 percent in 2020-21. 
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Public consultation 
14 I want to be sure that the Smoked Tobacco Regulatory Regime is established 

in a timely and effective way to meet the intended objectives of the Smokefree 
Bill. 

15 The consultation document sets out draft regulatory proposals to achieve this. 
It seeks feedback from the public, industry, and other interested stakeholders 
on requirements for: 
15.1 the smoked tobacco products retail application scheme 
15.2 low nicotine standards and product approval processes 
15.3 new notification requirements 
15.4 fees 
15.5 extending vaping packaging and product restrictions. 

16 Consultation will be conducted online and face-to-face. Manatū Hauora will 
email a link to the consultation document to those on its database of 
stakeholders, including industry (representative bodies, manufacturers, 
importers, and retailers), non-government organisations, stop smoking service 
providers, and Māori and Pacific providers. 

 
17 In addition, the Smokefree Bill includes specific Te Tiriti o Waitangi provisions 

requiring the Director-General of Health (Director-General) to consult with 
Māori when making retail decisions, and on the Minister of Health to ensure 
the risks and benefits to Māori are considered when making regulations 
regarding the content of smoked tobacco products. 

 
18 The obligation to consult sits with the Director-General, rather than for 

example Te Aka Whai Ora (Māori Health Authority), because the Director- 
General has statutory responsibility for making the retail decisions set out in 
the Smokefree Bill. However, the Director-General is required to consult with 
Te Aka Whai Ora before making these key retail decisions. 

 
19 The Public Health Agency’s (PHA’s) Hauora Māori team will lead specific 

consultation with Māori in February and March 2023 and this will be 
conducted in-person and online across the country. The PHA is working 
closely with Te Aka Whai Ora to ensure that Māori are engaged in a way that 
specifically considers Māori perspectives, and special consideration is given 
to the potential impact retail decisions may have on different groups of Māori. 

 
20 There will also be targeted consultation with Pacific peoples, led by Tala 

Pasifika2, with support from Manatū Hauora, as well as retail associations and 
with other stakeholders that have knowledge of local areas such as local 
government. 

 
 
 
 
 

2 Tala Pasifika is a Pacific community non-governmental organisation that Manatū Hauora and Te Whatu Ora 
have partnered with for the smokefree work programme. 

Document 7 

RELE
ASED U

NDER THE O
FFIC

IAL I
NFORMATIO

N ACT 19
82



I N  C O N F I D E N C E 

I N  C O N F I D E N C E 
4 

74pljbyi4i 2023-08-02 13:35:19 

 

 

 
 

21 The feedback received through consultation will inform the development of the 
final regulatory proposals to support the regulatory scheme under the 
Smokefree Bill. I intend to bring these proposals back to Cabinet in April 2023. 

 
Regulatory proposals to establish the Smoked Tobacco Regulatory Regime 
The smoked tobacco products retail application scheme 

22 The Smokefree Bill restricts where smoked tobacco products can be sold and 
who can sell them. Smoked tobacco products will only be able to be sold in a 
limited number of retail premises approved by the Director-General. 

 
23 To enable this to happen, an application scheme must be established that 

sets out how the number of stores will be distributed across the country, 
criteria needed to grant approval and the application process for doing so. 

 
24 The consultation document sets out the detail of the scheme and seeks 

feedback on the following components: 
 

24.1 the method of allocation of the smoked tobacco products retailers. 
For example, the split between urban and rural locations, and for 
each region of New Zealand 

24.2 the criteria for decision making, including minimum requirements for 
acceptance as a smoked tobacco retailer (eg, fit and proper person 
check, security, and business processes) 

24.3 the approval processes, including a method of ranking applicants, 
and the criteria which will be used to do so. These include, for 
example, the location of stores in relation to sensitive locations like 
schools, history of compliance with the Smokefree Act, and the 
overall suitability of the retail premise. 

25 These new provisions, and the proposals needed to implement them, will 
impact on a significant number of small businesses who sell these products 
across the country. While there are approximately 6000 current retail 
premises selling smoked tobacco products, the amended Smokefree Bill sets 
a ‘cap’ of no more than 600 approved retail premises. 

 
26 Tobacco and vape products are among the most commonly targeted items in 

thefts and robberies in New Zealand. New Zealand Police advise that the 
proposed reduction in tobacco retailers will significantly increase the risk of 
criminal activity targeted at stores that continue to sell these products. To 
mitigate the risk of theft, robberies and ram raids, approved tobacco retailers 
will need to meet stringent security requirements, such as fog canons, 
bollards and monitored security alarm systems. 

 
Low nicotine standards and products approval processes 
27 The amended Smokefree Bill includes a specific provision that limits nicotine 

levels in smoked tobacco products. A method of determining whether those 
limits have been exceeded, are set in regulations. 
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28 The consultation document sets out a proposed low nicotine standard, and 
seeks feedback on requirements such as: 
28.1 low nicotine testing methods 
28.2 requirements for product safety 
28.3 minor changes to packaging requirements 
28.4 application forms and processes for approvals and temporary 

approvals. 
New notification requirements 

29 The amended Smokefree Bill requires distributors of smoked tobacco 
products and notifiable product retailers to notify the Director-General that 
they are distributing or selling their products. 

 
30 The consultation document sets out, and seeks feedback on, a simple annual 

registration scheme with a small administration fee. The scheme requires 
distributors and notifiable product retailers to enter their contact details on the 
Manatū Hauora database. 

 

Fees 

31 The Smokefree Bill provides for recovering the costs of establishing and 
operating the Smoked Tobacco Regulatory Regime from the industry through 
fees and/or levies. 

 
32 The consultation document sets out, and seeks feedback on, proposed fees 

for smoked tobacco retail applications, applications for smoked tobacco 
products, and sector participant registrations. The fees have been set based 
on estimates of the average cost to receive, process, and respond to each 
type of application or registration. 

 
Extending vaping packaging and product restrictions 
33 The Smokefree Environments and Regulated Products Regulations 2021 set 

out requirements for how vaping products look and the messages and 
information they contain. These requirements are intended in part to limit their 
appeal, particularly for youth. The regulations also set out safety requirements 
that products must meet before they are able to be sold on the New Zealand 
market. 

 
34 The consultation document sets out, and seeks feedback on additional 

packaging and product requirements for vape products including: 
 

34.1 restricting flavour names that are likely to particularly appeal to young 
people (eg, Honey Bear and Unicorn Milk), with the objective of 
minimising their appeal to young people and reducing the associated 
uptake rates 

34.2 tightening product safety requirements for disposable vapes to ensure 
that they are safe to use. 
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35 I am also seeking Cabinet discussion and direction on a further option to 
include proximity restrictions as part of approval requirements to become a 
Specialist Vape Retailer (SVR). 

 
36 Recently, concerns have been raised in the media, ministerial 

correspondence and through submissions on the Smokefree Bill regarding the 
proximity of SVRs to schools, and the corresponding impact this is having on 
our youth vaping uptake. 

 
37 Current evidence on whether proximity restrictions would reduce youth uptake 

is somewhat limited. The 2021 ASH survey of Year 10 students found that the 
most common source of vapes for this age group is from friends (for daily 
users, four percent bought from or were given by friends, for all vape users, 
43 percent were given by friends). The least common source was buying 
online or in a shop. The survey also suggests that high youth vaping rates are 
not linked to SVR density within one kilometre of a school. I note, however, 
that the ASH survey pre-dates the establishment of SVRs. The next survey 
will be able to better analyse youth vaping rates against current SVR locations 
and this analysis will be available in early 2023. 

 
38 Although evidence for long term of vaping is not yet available, I propose we 

take action to prevent rangatahi from being addicted to nicotine. 
 

39 Proximity restrictions relating to SVR locations (eg, distance from schools, 
sports grounds or other community specific considerations) can be made 
through existing regulation-making powers, and there is an opportunity to 
include these proposed changes as part of the consultation on the Smoked 
Tobacco Regulatory Regime. Any changes would apply to all future SVR 
approvals but could not apply retrospectively. 

 
40 These proximity restrictions would not apply to general vape retailers (eg, 

dairies, supermarkets, service stations). These stores can only sell three vape 
flavours and therefore carry a limited product range. In addition, restrictions 
for general vape retailers would require a legislative amendment as there is 
currently no existing regulation-making power to do so. I believe more 
compelling evidence is needed before this option is considered. 

 
Next steps 
41 The consultation document will be released in February 2023 for six weeks. 

Following consultation and analysis of feedback, I will report back to Cabinet 
in April 2023 with final proposals on details of the Smoked Tobacco 
Regulatory Regime. I will also be seeking agreement to instruct the 
Parliamentary Counsel Office to draft regulations. 

 
Financial Implications 
42 In line with previous Cabinet decisions [CAB-18-MIN-0569 refers], the 

Smoked Tobacco Regulatory Regime will be fully cost-recovered, including 
establishment and operational costs. 
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Ministry for Pacific Peoples, the Ministry for Youth Development, the Ministry 
of Education, Oranga Tamariki- Ministry for Children and Ministry for the 
Environment. The Treasury and the Department of the Prime Minister and 
Cabinet were informed. 

 
Communications 
56 I will work with Manatū Hauora on public communications for the release of 

the consultation document. 
 

Proactive Release 
57 I intend to proactively release this paper when the consultation document is 

released. 
 

Recommendations 
58 I recommend that the Committee: 

 
1 note that the Smokefree Environments and Regulated Products (Smoked 

Tobacco) Amendment Bill provides for a regulatory regime to oversee and 
monitor the import, manufacture, sale, and supply of smoked tobacco 
products in New Zealand. 

 
2 note that the Smoked Tobacco Regulatory Regime must be established six 

months after the Smokefree Environments and Regulated Products (Smoked 
Tobacco) Amendment Bill comes into force on 1 January 2023. 

 
3 note that Manatū Hauora intends to publicly consult on regulatory proposals 

needed to establish the Smoked Tobacco Regulatory Regime. 
 

4 note that the consultation document seeks feedback on the proposed 
requirements for the Smoked Tobacco Regulatory Regime, including: 

 
4.1. the smoked tobacco products retail application scheme 
4.2. low nicotine standards and product approval processes 
4.3. new notification requirements 
4.4. fees. 

 
5 agree to include the following vaping proposals in the consultation document: 

 
5.1 restricting flavour names that are likely to particularly appeal to young 

people (eg, Honey Bear and Unicorn Milk), with the objective of 
minimising their appeal to young people and reducing the associated 
uptake rates 

5.2 tightening product safety requirements for disposable vapes to ensure 
that they are safe to use. 

6 agree to consult on proposed proximity restrictions as part of approval 
requirements to become a Specialist Vape Retailer. 
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